CHAPTER VIII

CONGRESSIONAL INVESTIGATION OF TEE
EVERGLADES PROJECT
[i l. The Calm Before the Storm
. After eonsidering the amouxt of money which would be
| needed to survey the 'Glades, dig canals, and construct
Ifﬁ canal locks, as well es to complete the Furst-Clark contract
fa? the Trustees of the Internal Improvement Fund adopted a reso-
lution on ¥arch 12, 1911, reguesting thes legislature to in-
{sf crease the Eveiglades District drainage tax from five to ten -
sents an acre. The large landholders of the district, at
the suggestion of the Trustee-Commissioners, met in Télla~
hassee and conferred on the subject on March 29. They found
.' it inadvisable to recommend ary change in the tax rate. They
[ = agreed, however, that the Florida East Coast Railway would
V%i not seek to withdraw any further acreage from the boundaries
1 ) of the district; and they also admitted that the drainage tax
had proven its worth, as shown by the fact that lsnds in and
adjacent to the reclamation operations had trebled in value
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Shortly after the sbove conference Governor Gilchrist
presented his biennisl messege on the condition o:fﬁle state
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to the legislature. He reported that prior to the letting
of the contract on July 1, 1910, the Drainage Commissioners
had completed 15.84 miles of canals and that since that date
the six Furst-Clark dredges had cut 24.06 of the 184 miles

3
in their asgreement. Gilehrist recited the details of the
settlement between the Trustee-Commissioners and the land
companies which resulted in the dismissal of the litigation
over the drainage tax. Touching on the problem of drainage
for the benefit of the land in the Everglades District which
had been sold by the large brokers in small quantities to
different individuals, the chief executive stated in defin-
ite terms that
The necessity for prompt reclamation of these

lands, in order that they may be more guickly

prepared for settlement and eultivation, is

quite apparent. Under the preceding administra-

tion, lands were sold in alternate gsections, As

1aterals will have to be constructed, it 1is the

policy of the present administration to so0lidify

their holdings as muech as possible. 4

As in the case of the 1907 and 1909 legislatures, the
1911 body created, by consurrent resolution, a joint commit-
tee to visit the Everglades operations, and to make a report
on the work accomplished, in progress, and contemplated by

the Trustees. The committee was instructed to ascertain the

% Journal of the State Senate of Florida of the Session
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of 1911, 56-57.
Ibld-l ' 64.
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oosts of the program, the acreage reclaimed, and to make a
summary of lands disposed of together with the conditions of
their sale, and of the lands still held by the Trnatees.5
The committee of two senators and three representatives
viewed the canals at the tidewater and lske ends of the
iscompleted canals and came to the conclusien that no land
was adeguately drained nor would be unitil the canals were
finished through to the lake and the lake level lowered;
some 15,000 acres adjacent to the outlets were, however,
partially c‘u:'a..‘l.necl..6 Observing that the consent obtained
from the federal governmsnt to the lowering of Okeechobee
_vfas predicated on the establishment of locks, the committee
called attention to the necessity for conmtrol works in the
canals at eight to twelve mile intervals to control the
waterways for irrigation and navigétion.
The committee found that the Trustees had recelved
$834,730.35 from the sale of Everglaﬂ.esiands from January,
1905, to May, 1911, and that on the latter date the Trustees

and Commissioners had $439,993,95 in cash or megotiable

5 Senate Concurrent Resolution Number 2, Acts and Reso-

lutions Adopted by the Legislature of Florida at its Thirteen-
Regular Session Undexr the Constitution o ’ .

5 Journal o7 the State senate of Florids of the Session
of 1911, 1755, They declared that when Fthe water in the lake
1s lowered, thereby making an immense reservolr, 8o that when
the rainy season begins, this reservolr will hoid. the excess-
ive rainfall, and by means of opening the canals the rainfall

can be carried to the sea without the leke overflowing its
banks," the Everglades will be drained. Ibid., 1756.
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instruments on ha.qd with drainage taxes due through the life

~ of the Furst-Clark contract of $1,578,864, making a total of

7
resources of 2,018,857,

 We are advised that about 35,000 acres of land
in the Everglades had been s0ld in small traots
by promoters at prices as high as eighty ($80.00)
dollars per acre, under an agreement that the pro-
moters would ocut a canal at certain places which
is supposed to be sufficient to carry off the
water and make the land sultable for eultivation.
Parties buying the land are fully advised, so far
as we can ascertain, of the existing conditions
and of the progress of the drainage operations, 8
The committee resommended that the Trustees enco urage
immigration into Florida and at the same time bring more
money to the Improvement Fund by selling Everglades tracts in
multiples of five acres to bona fide settlers. Estimating
that roughly a million ecres remained to the Fund in ‘the
d.raina.gq‘d.iétrfct, the legislators _believed the lands should
bring an average of $25 an acre on sush a plan. The committee
also redommended that the Trustees donate the spoil banks
’alohé the cansls , together with a right-of-way, for the con-
struction of a oross-state highway; they said: ®We mow of

nothing that would B.evelbp thov Everglades more rapidly, ;x-

~cept of course the drainage operations now in progress.”

" Incountering doubt in the minds of meny persons as to

7' Journal of the State Senate of Florida of the Session

of 1911,

- 9 Tbi%., 1761,
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the drainage project, the committee pointed out that such a
guestion was merely a matter of mathematics to be solved by
combining the elements of rainfsll, evaporation, and the
size of the drailnage canals. The group endorsed the enter-
prise and recommended that it be pushed with all vigor to
complete the contracted canals, and suggested that a further
canal be dug from Okeechobee to Lake Worth via West Palm
Beach 1f such an outlet would be needed to implement the

system,

Your committee is of the opinion that the
drainage operation will wltimately be a great
success, and is one of the greatest undertak-
ings of the age, and will convert the Ever-
glades~--once a watery waste--into one of the
.garden spots of the world. We believe, how-
ever, before it has reached perfection, that
individuals will have to spend for farm ditches
and lateral canals a sum approximating two dol-
lars per acre, When completed, the farmer need
not fear cold, droughts nor floocds, and has

sic/ the econseiousness of knowing that he is -
i1 as rich a soil as is to be found within
the bounds of the South. 10 :

of 1911, 1765, "We find thav tne il.l+ Board has we
Zsic? ?he drainage operations, and under J. O, Wright, Super-
vising Drainage Engineer, there is a thorough check on all the
proeeedings, and that everything is well mapped out and plan-
ned, and we 4o not believe a more competent, honest, energetiec,
and thorough man could be found anywhere, than Mr. Wright. So
long as he is in charge of the actual construction, it is our
opinion that the interests of the State will be thoroughly
rrotected in every partiéular. At the same time, no mean
advantage will be taken of the contractors.” Ibid.. 1761,

The Board of Commissioners of the Everglades Dralnage District
adopted a route for the Palm Beach eanal on December 22, 1911,
and let the contraet for its excavation on December 17, 1915.
E«D.Ds "Kimltes, I 229 218-227. .
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In order to ccmply with the constitutionel requirement B

Attorney Gemeral Park Trammell submitted his bienniel advi-
sory report to the legislature in 191l. Included among his
proposals for action by that body was the passage of a bill
providing that the Trustees of the Internal Improvement

Fund establish end maintain two experimental farms in the
Everglades, to consist of not more than ten acres each, one
on the east coast and one on the west coast. Since the
state possessed over a million acres below Okeechobee such
stations would be of megligible expense and would add to the
worth and development of the area by determining "the diver-

sity of crops for which the so0il of the Everglades land is

gk ety "
i ¥

suitable,” and for "demonstrating the agricultural value of
11 L
this land for the production of different crops.”
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In late December of 1911 the Miami Board of Trade asked
the Improvement Trustees to establish an experimental farm _

on the 'Glades near Miami. The Trustees replied that they L
would gladly donate land for such a farm but were doubtful T
of their right to "use funds for an experimental farm, if -
the funds werayavailable.“lz The Trustees referred the ,:
request to the State Expeiiment Station at Gainesville. . ' : T

| The gquestion of permanent locks and dams in the 4drain- L

age eanals beoa@e a veritable nightmare for the Board of

11 Journal of the Stete Senate of Florida of the Session

2 I.1.B. Minutes, IX, 327,
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Commissioners. Land owners on the coastal ends of the
canals were eager to see such installations constructed to
protect their lznds from the overflow of the watérs from
the upper reacnes, while settlers on the latter lands were
opposed to them decause they feared they would hinder the
run-off at their location. J. O. Hright, the chief engin-
eer, objected to the locks because the water in the canals
would have to be three feet below the surface of the lowest
ground traversed by the eansl in order to furnish drainag
to lands adjacent to the waterway.ls ‘ -

This dilemma was brought to the attention of the Trus-
tees»in a communication of Hovember 21, 1911, from A. B.
Sanders of Miami wﬁo stated that he had bought fifty scres
of "drained" land from the I. I. Trustees in 1910. He
later sold it but when the prospective tenan; arrived “she
found the land she had purchased under two feet of“watér.ii
Sanders asked the Trustees if his unfortunate buyer eould
buy or lease lmnds below the temporary locks in order %o
make a winter erop. "The Trustees while rerﬁsing.to admit
they had sold Mr. A, B. Sanders or any one else land olaim-

ing that 1% had been drained, mevertheless were desirous of

13 I.1.B, Hinutes, IX, 225, Wright brought up "another
fact to be consIdered . . . that when this muck land is
drained, it will settle s0 that the canals will not de as
deep as they are at the present time, = This settlement will
be as much as a foot or a foot and one-half in the deep muck
soflL " :
14 Ivid., 277.
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assisting and will lease certaln lands below the locks at
three dollars ($3.00) per scre for the season."ls “«L“
Although drainage activity had been in progress for
seven years, Leke Okeechobee was still a wilderness area in
1912, The main entry was through the Hicpochee Canal from

the Caloosahatchee to the big lake. Small river stsamers

plied tae Caloosghatchee to Ft. Thompson and the Kissimmee
from Tohopekaliga to Ft. Bassinger.16 ¥. S. Blatohley, ~
making the Celoosahatchee River trip in 1911, noticed {
"Oraenge groves, landing docks, and small settlementé" elong
the river, ?but the groves were mosily narrow tracts on the
river shore, put out to aid in selling lots to tourists.“17
At La Belle, just below Fi, Thompson, Blatchley found a

small village which was the center of mg3 gettlement of five -

and ten acre tracgs which have been sold to northern people ‘
R & _ L
at high prices," After entering the lake this tourist '

found but three'housgs on-the shores of the lake, and the

15 I.I1.B. Minutes, 1x, 277 '

16 Harrison Garfleld Rhodes and Mary Wolfe Dumont, A
Guide to Florida for Tourists, Sportsmen, and Settlers, 210~
o 0 gO e eechobese m Xissimmee 18 a very
interesting excursion. Steamboats and motor boats meke the

journsy with little trouble %o the traveler. « o o" 1bld.,

216.

17 %. S. Blatchley, In D%% :éggne. 94,

18 Ibid., 96. "wWhile doc Te a large launch filled
with norihern tourists passed us. They were in eharge of &
land sgent or resl estate boomer who was taking them up to
sell land in the everglades near the North Kew River Canal
now being dredged between Lake Okeechobee and Fort Lauder-
dale."” Ibid., 97. _
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only settlement was on Taylor's Creek off the northeastern
shore of Lske Okeechobee,

¥riting of early days on Lake Okeechobee, Gertruds K. |
Winne récalled. that there were not many peopls living about
Lake Okxeechobee 1in 1912 when the Winnes built a house on

19
Torry Island in the southeastern section of the laks, The

nearest female neighbors of the Winnes were members of the
Ve He Waggoner femily on Kreamer's Island some miles away.,
“ Hunting, fishing, and trapping were the occnpations of the
inhabitants although J. O. ¥right found "several men whe had
= squagged'around. the lake who were cultivating the land" in

1908  Gertrude ¥inne remembered that QOkeechobee'!s shores

; were an ideal hiding place from the law and that no gues-
. tions were asked of people who dropped by; withoud any law,
however, eonditions were safe. & There were no stores on
the lake and all provisions and supplies had to be brought
from Ft. Hyers, where the trappers and fishers sold their
cateh, ‘§ith the opening of the North Hew River Canal in
October, 1912, the distance to "oivilization" was cut from

Y -“;'ﬂ #

Eve lades News (Canal Point, Florida), March 7, 1930.

» = mnverglades Hearings, Kumber 3, 90,

. B ' 21 % visitor to Kissimmee In 1895 wrote: "The unknom
b reaches of the Everglades lie just below, and with a half-
‘hourts start a man who knew the country would dbe safe from
pursuit even if it were attempted; and as one man oheeffully
confided to me, YA boat don't leave no trail, stranger.'®
Frederiec- Remington "Cracker Cowboys of Florld.a,” Bg.__rzgr’s

Magazine, LIXX (August 1895), 342,
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22
135 miles to Ft. Lyers to 64 miles to Ft. Lauderdale.

Gertrude Winne had noticed several gardens in the rver-
glades muck along Okxeechobee's shore and wrote that she deter—
mined to have a good one., The 1911 legislative commission
found every kind of garden ?egetable being grown sucoessfully

in the muck except cornm.

On the banks of Lake Ukeechobee we saw cabbage
growing that were four feet across, and were
assured that fertilizer of no kind was used, ' We
were told that they sold a cabbage the week before
our visit that weighed iwenty-eight pounds, and
which was grown on the south side of the Lake with-
out fertilizer, We found alfalfa growing most
luxuriantly on the banks of the canal on the south
shore of Lake Okeechobees « o+ o

Gn the South New River Canal, some four to five
miles out in the "Glades®™ we found a settlement of
some eight or ten families who have been conduct-
ing vegetable gardens for the season past, and
they were well pleased. They hed raised cabbage,
tomatoes, beans, Irish potatoes, and all kinds of
sarden truck profitably. One person there stated
he had grown one hundred and twenty-six hampers of
beans on a half-acre, and sold them at an average
price of three dollars and a gquarter per hamper--
that the average crop of beans was about three -
hundred hampers to the acre. They raise about five
hundred crates of tomatoes to the acre and have -
grown as high as eight hundred and fifty erates to
the acre, which yielded them from $1.50 to 83.50
per crate., 23 '

22 Everglades News (Canal Point, Florida), March 7, 1930.
In the early winter of 1913 the steamer Suawnee made weekly
trips from Ft. Myers to the lake, ,

23 Journal of the State Senate of Florida of the Session
of 1911, « "We often fo ong the banks o 6 can

houses, boat landings, ete,, that had been taken possession

of by settlers.™ Ibid., 1762-1763. In 1907 the Florida East
Coast Railway moved 1,500,000 crates of tomatoes, 700,000
crates of pineapples, and 150,000 barrels of Irish potatoes,

r
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de Os Wright, making his _ﬁrst public utterance on the

Everglades at ¥iami in 1908, said that the 'Glades could be

drained but that the land would not be permanently settled
withou'c the introduction of some staple crop of high com~
mercial value such &s sugar ceane or m.«:se.z4 Wright knew a
cane patoch on Rita River, a mile south of Lake Okeechobee,
which produced profitable crops of syrup from 1909 to 1912;
and another patoch five miles out on the South New River
Canal which was grown without fertilizer and with little
cultivation.as

According to a survey made by the State Plant Board in
1919, the first plantings of sugar cane in the Everglades
were made in 1508 and 1909 on Rita Island in Lake Okeechobee

. . 26
of two to four acres by F. A. Forbes and A. V. Callahan,

the latter from one station, In 1897 the railway had moved
e total of 76,000 orates of vegetables. In 1907 the rail-
way grossed $819,000, in 1908, $4,000,000; in 1908 it trans-
ported 1,000,000 passengers. Edwin Lefevre, "Flagler and
Florida,” Everybody's, XXII (February, 1910), 176.

24 J. 5.‘7:3%?, The Ever%ades of Florida, 13.

25 1lbid., b5. Wright sp ed on vhe prospects of
two million acres of 'Glades and adjacent lands adapted for
cane, a’veta?ing'thirty tons per asre at three dollars a ton
to produse $180,000,000 per year. Ibid., 8l. At the 1912
Congressional Hearings, Wright said "there are a great many
erops that can be grown there, but the eonclusion I have
reached is that the settlement and salvation of the Ever-

glades 1s sugar ocane.” 1912 Everglades Hegi_x_zg;, NHumber 4,

157, : . —
1 26 F. D, Stevens, "History of Florida Sugar Operations,”
5-16., » . - | - .
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David Grandison Fairchild, the eminent plant asuthority,
attempted to interest H. Mi Flagler in 1912 in the avocado,
mango, and other {tropical fruits but "he was strongly of the
opinion that there was a great future for sugar cane in the
Everglades, and szaid that e big company was planning to
plant a thousand aores.‘"z?

2., Background of the
Congressional Investigation

The reclamation of the Everglades provided & wonmlerful
opportunity for the sale of lands of a definitely gquestion-
able echaracter which had been bought in wholesale lots from
the Trustees of the Internal Improvement Fund of Florida.
Covering the capital scene for the New York Sun, a Washing-

ton correspondent reported:

These companies ,  « have advertised exten-
sively throughout the United States, and it is
contended, have ¢ollected millions of dollars
for lands obtained at 50 cents an aore and sold
as high as $60 an acre, 28

27 David Grandison Fairchild, The World Was My Garden,

28 "Dralning the Everglades," lLiterary Digest, XLIV
(February 17, 1912), 327. "To turn a land of mystery into a
prosaic farming country--to-throw the limelight of familiar-
ity into the fastnesses of a much-misunderstood region--to
change an almost inaoccessible hunting-ground and & hiding-

887,

. Place for Indians and bad men into a produstive region--all
'~ this is the object of onme of the most gigantie schemes of

reclamation ever undertaken in the world's history now being
carried out + « . in the Everglades of Florida, That it is
being used by unscrupulous promoters to cever the sale of
worthless lends at fancy prices does not detract from the
value of the plan itself.”

M~ rmorm o
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The chain of events which reached a ¢limsx in the Con-
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gressional Investigation of the Everglades drainage schems

had its beginnings in the correspondence between C, G.

Elliott, Engineer in Charge of Drairage Investigations,
United States Department of Agriculture, O0ffice of Experi-
ment Stations, and Governor N. B. Broward., Elliott wrote
Broward on February 28, 1905, offering to cooperate

e« ¢« o in every way oconsistent with the means we

have at command for determining the practicebility

and otherwise improving and developing the hidden

resources of the wet lands of Florids. 29
As noted in the preceding chapter, the exchange of letters
and conferences between state and federal officials resulted

. N

in intermittent examinations of the Everglades by James 0O,

3

4

A
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¥

Wright and others from 1906 through 1908, and the subsequent
preparation of an abstract of Wright's report.ao'

A Just how the excerpt of the Wright Report was released
fﬁf is unknown. Sometime in February, 1909, Henry Clay BHall,
who represented a lérge Colorado brokerage firm interested

in Everglades lands, appeared in the Washington office of

the igriculture Department's drainage inyestigations-ncdking
' . 31

information on the Sonth Florida area. Hall was allowed

29 1912 Everg%ades Eear%ggs, Number 25, 1259.

1 . 30 .

. ! 31 T, G. Elliott maintained thet the Florida Trustees

2 sought the federal engineers' recommendations in February,
1909, and were furnished the excerpt, a copy of which was

also given to Hall., "This was the way the transaction remain-
ed in my mind, and I still remember it so, but according to
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to read a draft of what Wrizht had written and a typewritten |

32 -
excerpt was mailed to him by Elliott on February 27, 1909, : L

Another copy of the excerpt was sent to the Florida Trustees o

on March 6, 1909, by Elliott, both abstracts having been 1‘

mailed "with the understanding that the information contained i

therein be not made publiec until the appearance of the com-

plete report, whick is in course of preparation."33 j
Governor Gilchrist wrote Secretary Wilson on March 11,

1909, and asked permission "to use so much of the report as | {

I may deem proper to gzbmit to the legislature," when it

should meet in April. Wilson replied Marsch 27:

the files my memory is at fault, Mr. Hall having been given [
the excerpt first, and it was sent to the board a few days
g later, apparently without a request from them.® 1912 Ever- {
%lad.es Eeari%gs, Number 21, 1039-1041. J. O. Wrigh%t main-
ained that "s « « Heary Clay Hall, of Colerado Springs, came
to Washington and asked to ses the report I had written, ' [

Elliott gave him the report to read and he asked permission
to meke a copy of it. This privilege was denied him. A day

or two later he appeared with an order from Secretary wWilson -
directing Elliott to give him a copy of that portion dealing |
with the drsinage prodlem. , « o After this extraet of the '

report had been given to X¥r, Hall, I said to Elliott, 'I .

think this same information . . . should be sent to the trus-
tees of the internal improvement fund.' He objected to doing
this, but « « o finally decided it would be the proper thing
t0 30¢ ¢« o o7 Ibid., Hurber 5, 188, On February 14, 1912,
Hall wrote: "Saw Secretary Wilson . ... received typewritten
extract signed by Wright, from fortheoming report under cover
letter from Elliott, dated February 27, 1909 . . » Henry C,
Hall," Ibid., Bumber 26, 1300. o :

32 1912 Everglades Hearings, Humber 26, 1328,
33 +y Humber 12, 509. i

234 Tbid., 560,

r
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Since this report relates to the conditions
which prevail in the lands tributary of Lake
Okeechobee and proposes a plan for the drainage
of the Zverglades, I see no reason why it should
not be submitted to the legislature as a portion
of the fortheoming report which will be published
by this department in the near uture. I take
pleasure in granting you this request, trusting
that, as e progress report upon the Everglades,
it may be of some use to the State. 35

The release of the abstract of the Wright Report bearing
the prestige and approval of the drsinage division of the
Department of Agriculture set in motion a sucecession of
events from which there was no retreat. The first draft of
the repo:t had not been completed when Wright selected the
abstract, but without examination or review by any authority
it was delivered under Ellioit's signature as chief drainage
engineer to Hall and the Trustees.36 Soon after the deliv-
ery of the Wright abstract By'Governor Gilehrist to the 1909

legislature certain parts were seized upon by the Everglades

36 1912 EverégadeS‘Hear%ggs,,Hnmher 12, 560, P"The
Department of Agricultiure enfered upon this very responsible
work of reclamation of its own initiative, but does not seem
to have had a proper conception of the vast interests invol-
ved in the projeot., This work was undertsken without seri-
ous consideration, was not prosecuted vigorously or suscess-
fully, and was abandoned by the department after an expan-
diture of $11,017.34, without having accomplished any
definite or satisfactory results.® "Expenditures in the

Department of Agriculture,™ House of Representatives Docu~

ments, Report Number 1207,.62 Congress, & Session, 1-2.
66 House of Representatives Documents, Report Number

1207, 62 Congress, E.Sessiong,ﬁ. See also 1912 Everglades

Hearings, Number 10, 409-410, and Wumber 21, 1039.
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land selling promoters to back up thelr high pressure cam-
37
paigns with the authority of a federal report.

—

The delay in the preparation of the final report dy
Uright was atitributed to several causes: other work 1ﬁ the
drainage division, speaking tours, and ggeming indifference J
on the part of both Wright and Elliott.o ¥atters were
brought to 2 head in August, 1909, when Harold Wheeler called 1
at the office of the drainage division of the Department of
Agriculture, Wheeler stated that he represented persons who
had contemplated buying land in the Everglades; that he had
been through the area and had made sSome examinations; and
that certain statements in the wright excerpt "did not appear
to him to be justified, and he called to ask some one in the
office to explain that report to him.“39

Elliott, the chief drainage engiheer of the departiment, o

37 "pata included in this excerpt was regarded by inter-
ested parties as being so favorable to this work of reclama-
tion that it was circulated as advertising matter te
stimulate the sale of the Florids Everglade lends by compan-

ies who placsd these lands on the market before the ditches

were Gdug to drain, Thus with only & eursory examination in
the field and no critical review in the office, engineering
plans for this vast reclamation work--the largest project in
the world, was favorably recommended to the public, bearing
the approval of the Department of Agrioculture."™ House of
Representatives Documents, Report Humber 1207, 62 Congress,

Session, 2. See also H. Parker ¥illis, nSecretary Wilson's
Record,” loc, cit., 15-16.

= 38 Jo U, Wiright, ¥hy Was Wriﬁ%t's Report on the Ever-
e - :glades Suppressed?, 8-10., For E ott's story see ver-
= lades Hearings, Number 20, 987-998. -
E 39 1912 nverglades Hearings, Number 9, 34l.

iy, ik
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and ¥Wright were away on en 1nspeot16n four, so vwheeler turned
to urthu:c E. Morgan, one of the superv:l.sing, engineers, to
answer his gquestions regarding costs of excavation a.nd the
evaporation of rainfall as stated in the abstracted report.
Wheeler told Horgan he had made a visi‘l‘;‘ to one ‘of the dredges
and had noted that "where the ditch was said to have been dug
10 feet he found that it haé. filled up imed.ia.tely behind. the
dredge, making a ditch only abon‘q 5 feet deep, . A. ‘;“40
Wheeler sald no accurate account had been kept of the iro_rk,
and the records in the Tallshassee offices of the Intgrm
Improvement Fund regarding drainage costs were in such condi-
tion that the Board's employees could not'gi#e any m.ea.hof
the cost; and "as a result of that investigation he [ﬁheeleg?'
did not believe the board itself knew what the won: was cost-
1ng."4l Using Wright's figures on rainfall and evaporation,
Wheeler found that the latter exceeded the former to such an
extent that, if true, Lake Okeeehobee vould soon 4ry up and
there wou.ld. be no run-off on the Everglades whatsoever.

neanwhile Wright had completed his :tnll report and pre-
sented it to muott for appmval the previous nag. me, ,
ohief drainege engineer of the feQ.era‘.lkdiviaion made ”k‘humber
of changes in the arrangement An& subject mati}’er and presented

40 1912 Everi;ad.es Beariggs, Number 9 343.
41 ., [ ] )

\

i
/

/-
i




2806
it to the printer the latter part of June. It was during
Elliott's aebsence in August that galley proof was returned

- o —

to the office and was slmost ready to be sent back to the
' | 42

printer when Vheeler called at the drainage division,.

with the impetus given by Wheeler's questions, iorgan »
examined the Wright plans end assured himself that it was B I

s » o« SO0 completely erroneous and gave evi-
dence of suck complete incompetency that its
publication would not only be misleading, but
that 1t would be a very serious reflection
upon the professional character of the services
performed by drainsge investigations. 43

AS a result Xorgan consulted with Alfred D. lorehouse, act-

TR P YSEUTn TP
o T PR I R E ot A

ing chief of drainage investigations in the absence of
£lliott, and after communicating with the letter, the three

-

engireers held up the proof of the Wright report for further
investigation. Upon Elliott's return the Wright manuscript
recéivéd a fhorough going ovér et the hands of the eﬁgineers
of the division. The subsequent revision incurred Wright's

displeasure and as the summer and fall wore on an increasing

42 1912 Everglades Hearingzs, Number 18, 857. By way of
explanation, Elliot{ wrote: %I made some quite radical changes
in the arrangement and in part of the subject matter, but the
extract which had previously been made public and which dealt
with many of the engineering features of the problem and with
the plans for draining the Everglades, I gave no special atten-
tion to and it was left without change, for the reason 'that I
wag geriously handicapped for time, and also at that time had
sufficient sonfidence in Mr. Viright's ability as an engineer
not to question the accuracy and reliability of his work and
deductions.™ "Ibid. ‘

43 Ibvid,, Number 10, 409, Wheeler reduced his questions
regarding the report to writing in letters to both Wright and
Moorehouse. Ibid., Number 9, 385-386.
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amount of bad blood developed between Elliott and his Junior .-
engineer, On January 28, 1910, the revised page proof was

presented to the director of experiment stetions, in which

bureau the drainage division was located, "with the reguest
that it be printed as soon as pbssible, as its publication
v had already been deferred too long-.“44 |

fl; The controversy between Elliott and #right reached a

climax in February, 1910, when Wright accepted the position

of ohief drainage engineer for the Board of Commissioners of
the iverglades Drainage Distriect. iccordirg to Ellioti,
Hright did not intend to resign from the federal agenoy to

take uwp the Florida work, but instead asked for a furlough
which his senior'refused to giant, whereupon Wright submit-
ted his resignatidn.45

The activity of the state drainage operations and the

sales campaigns of the various land companies focoused a

Hearings, Fumber 21, 1041. Since the
‘report was made by several men credit
for this work was given under Wright's name as author by
adding: "Prepared by engineers of drainage investigations un-
der the direction of C. G. Elliott, Chief of Drainage Investi-
gations.,® "It is this ohange in the title which ¥r. Wright
publicly ascribed to my jealousy of him and my desire to rob .
him of deserved oredit,” wrote Elliott. JIbid, When Elllott
examined Wright's report in Ootober, 1909, he confirmed his i
suspicion of the latter's incompetency, but did not recommend !
his removal from the department. Elliott declared he just
;gid not assign him any more important work.® Ibid., Number

s 994. o . v
45 Ibid., Number 21, 1042, ¥Wright later wrote: "1 accept-
ed the position tendered me beocause it placed me in charge of
the largest drainage project in the United States."™ Ibid.,
Number 5, 190.
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great deal of attention on the Everglades., Since the United

States Department of Agriculture was known to be conddcting
examinations in that area it was natural that many letters
seeking information would be addressed to the federsl agency.

During the years 19038 and 1909 the office
received increasingly frequent letters of in-
quiry concerning the Everglades from persons
who were contemplating investing in them.
Keplying to these finally became so arduous s
task that + . « one of the office engineers was
instrueted to compile from the data in the office
& concise statement eovering the points on whiah
the information was most frequently asked, and
prepare a multigraph letter that could be sent
in answer to such inquiries. 46

Elliott's office prepared a form letter in January,
1910, which was used to answer the requests for informetion
on the south Florida region. After & brief history and geo-
grapnical description of the Everglades, the letter dlscussed
other features, including climate, reinfall, goil. land sales,
and drainsge operations, In part, the oircular stated:

The ¢limate of southern Floride seems as
healthful as that of other localities having
-the same latitude. « « + The long and hot
summers are ususlly very irksome to the people
from more northern states, but do not seem
detrimental to the health. « . »
¢ & & o ® ¢ & & & & W € 8 & F & ° & 4 B ¢ & &
The State has sold large tracts in the Glades
to companies that are now offering these lands
for sele. The State retains the ownership of '
alternate sections throughout the tracts, but has

46 1912 Everg%ades Hearings, Fumber 21, 1042, For typi-
cel letters see, d., Number 18, 890-892, Number 20, 1000,
According to George P. MoCabe, Solieitor of the Department of

Agriculture in 1912, the drainage division in Washington had

{eoeivea 1,533 inquiries to February 3, 1912, Ibid., Number
» 140

lF— o o e e ey e —
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80ld several hundred thousand acres for about $2
per acre, agreeing to expend about $1.50 per acre
toward drainage. . . » A number of miles of
canals have been excavated, and it does not seem
improbable that as this work progresses the land
bordering the canals will be at least partially
drained. But undoubtedly much time will yet be
required before any considerable areas will be
habitable or fitted for cultivation,

For the drainage of the Everglades a very com-
Dlete system of main ditehes and laterals will be
required and farm ditches in detail., Also in
this soil provision must be made for irrigation
or for maintaining the water in the ditches and
8011 at a fairly uniform depth, not too low, in
order that there may always be sufficient moisture
for the production of erops, and to prevent the
1iability of the muck catching fire and burning,.

The drainage of the Everglades is entirely .
feasible from an engineering standpoint, but the
value of the land when drained is highly problem-

i atical. Some small drained tracts on the edge of
E—— the Glades have produced very satisfactory crops
E: - . of vegetables; usually but not always, large gquan-
tities of fertilizers have been used. . . «
*® & & 0 5 & 2 ° & B 2 S &+ T & & & & £ B ¢ & ¢
Further than the preparation of . . « & drain-
. age plan, the National Government is doing nothing
P toward the drainage of the Everglades, and has made
e no appropriation from whieh any such works may be
eonstructed, 47

In conclusion, the sircular referred the inqnirerg to the
Gainesville, Florids, Agricnlturai Experiment Stéfion and the
Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Fund of Florida,
adding that further information regaiding conditions in south-
ern Florida would be issued later by the 0ffice of Experiment
Stations, "wifh an outline for the main drainage syétem o

S k‘;!“ﬁﬁf 1-5,?!,\‘%@2);. L

47 1912 Everglades Hearings, Number 5, 215-216.
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reclaim about 1,800,000 acres of the zverglades lying between
48

Miami and Lake Okeechobee and about the lake."

The delay in the appearance of the complete Wright

report had led to an increasing correspondence on the subject,

end to meet this demand the form letter was used. The state-
ment¥s on the soil, agricultural value, and amount of ditehing
necessary were of such cautiornary nature that they were ob-

Jectionable to parties interested in promoting Everglades
49

land sales,

On February 3, 1910, Senater Duncan U. Fletecher received

the following telegram from ex-Governor Broward:

Received a telegram /from Harold K. Bryant of
Chicago/ "Bulletin coming out of igricultural
Department knocking Everglades.® I earnestly ask _
you to investigate and prevent such setion if you /
can. I understand that Dr, Wiley, Chief Chemist’ '
Agricultural Department, is opposed to having his

48 1912 Everglades Hearéggs, Humber 5, 216. Solieitor
Gs. P. MoCabe stated before the Moss Committee investigating
expenditures in the Department of Agriculture in 1912 that
Secretary Wilson had signed 265 letters answering guestions
on the Everglades and had invariably stated that the depart-
ment had never investigated the companies selling Florida
lands nor was there any publicatien svailsble regarding the
Everglades. Ibid., Number 1, 27-28, Arthur E. Morgan, in
his testimony before the same committee, said: "I was person-
ally acquainted with many of these letters that came in in-
quiring about the Everglades, and in very many statements are

made, 'This is our everything that we sare putting in here.'"®
Ibid., Number 9, 370.

‘49 House of Representatives Documents, Report Number
1207, 62 Congress, 5 Session, 3, 1% was later determined
that "The same interests which made . . . objection to the
Sircular had been guilty of eirculating highly extravagant

8tatements in praise of Everglade lands, and falsely attribu-
ting the authorship to Secretary Wilson." Ibid.

~
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name used by ocompanies selling Everglade lands.
They claim to quote Dr, Wiley to Secretary of
Agriculture, 1891, page 170, They think they
have a right to print excerpts of report, it
being a public document. Am writing. S0

Senator Fletoher called on Secretary Wilson on the morning of

. February 4, read to him Broward's message, and presented

¥Wilson with a copy of the circular letter. The letter had
been produced in a regular manner by Wilson's subordinates in
the office of the arainage division and seat out with C. G.
Elliott's signature, but Fletocher's copy was the first the
Secretary of Agriculture had seen.sl

Fletcher quoted Wilson as saying: "I know nothing about
any such eircular . . . you must be mistaken; I have never
heard of*!t, and I think it can not be true."aa;‘wilson there-
upon ca2lled in Joseph Arnold, Chief of the Division of Publi-
cations and editor of the department, and guestioned him af
some length about the letter. After some discussion ¥Wilson
$014 Arnold: |

This is not part of our business; we are here s
%o furnish scientific data and the results of : .
- eolientific investigation. We are-not here to give
opinions or make statements otherwise than that,
. and J want this stopped right where it is. 63

‘50 House 0f Representatives Documents, Report Number
1207, 62 Congress, ession, 6. R .
Bl Ibid. - . R Q
58‘1!I2’Evorg}ados Hearings, Number 19, 928, Fletcher
stated ¢ s Le Bowen, an agent of the Everglades Land Com-
pany in Washington, gave him the copy of the oircular letter,

in 1910, Ibid., Kumber 16, 757-758. :
53 Ibid., Number 19, 929. Testifying before the congres=-

sional committee on April 3, 1912, Seoretary Wilson stated he -
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#ithin a few days after Fletocher's visit to the Tepartment
of agriculture, E, C, Hewe. and T, 2, Will, salesmen of the
Zvergledes Land Sales Company, visited the drainage aivision
of the 0ffice pf Experizent Stations in the sams federal
agency and wanted to know who prepared the eircular latter,
They wore indigrant at what they termed its mis;n:ormtien,
and sought to have the letier suppressed and a retraction
issusd, The real estate agents recsived a 609l reception in
the drainage division and took their ocase to Seeretary wWilsen,
who had aslready supsressed the eireular.m Congressman Fre.nk
Clark, in whose distriect most of the zverglades lay, took
several of his farmer constituents {0 meetl Secrefary Wilson
fn February, 1912, Dduring the conversatlion Clark asked
¥ilson why the now ill-famed circular lsiter had been suppres-
sed. Aocordiizg to Clark, ¥ilson replied that he had suppressed
it at the instance of persons Belling Zverglade lands, "and he

-8aid he thought he had dose right, and asked me if I 414 not

ordered the eireular suppressed because it was npot only un~-
authorized dut was not up to the style of publication whiah
the department would want $o send ocut., 1912 Everglades Hear-
ings, Number 26, 1317, See also speeoh oI Fle E'ee'ger in the

Ted States Senate on February 15, 1912, in which he ampli-
fies the story of the meeting he hed with wusm in 1910,
Cegggssional Record, ILVIII, 2088,

- 5471912 Ever%%aea Hoarigg, Kumber 13, 597, 624-625:
Humbe;c Ly 40 $c=d . ’ ' .
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55
think so,.”

About the middle of May, 1910, Clark introduced a resolu-
tion on the floor of the House of Representatives which
definitely showed his attitude in regard to the position of
the United States Department of Agriculture and the Everglades
project, Clark proposed that the Secretary of Agriculture fur-
nish the lower house

e » o With any and all information in the posses-

sion of his department showlng what if anything,

toe Government of the United States is doing or

has done toward directing or supervising the

drainage of any lends in the Everglades region of

Florida. . e o 56
This resolution was never reported on, but tended to create
disguiet in the public mind, according to T. E. Will, and was
ano ther part of the campaign which the Florida congressman was

57 B
waging against the Everglades, The public mind in Will's
eye probably represented the "buying public” at this time,

on ¥ay 17, T. E. ¥ill and M, L. Bowen paid a visit to

Ao Tanrdnqsra remh aw Q

01d man did not show very much disposition to exhibit, but
after some considerable insistence he did send and get & copy
of {t," Wilson was repuled to have said that he "was not run-
ning his department for the protestion of fools who bdbought
stuff all over the couniry without seeing it." Ibid., 19,
See also the testimony of William R, Hardee and Henry B
Sewell, who substantiated Clark's statements on the interview
with Wilson. Ibid,, NHumber 18, 908, 926,

56 Congressional Record, XLV (May 10, 1910), 6317.

57 1912 Everglades Hearings, Number 13 625,
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Secretary Wilson in regard to the Wright report, which had
been promised to the public some months previously. WwWill
recalled th'at_he’had eipressed the hope that the delayed
publication wouldr ‘soon appear, "when Wilson ﬁmught his fist
down ‘on‘thejable and said, "i told them fellows I would not
do a damm thing for them until they quit fighting emong them-
:é,elves.f‘38

‘Under C. G. Elliott's d.irection a repor’c ha.d been pre-
pared a.nd submtted to Secretary Wilson on May 20 1810,
which woula have besn sent to the house had the call arrived,
On June 14, 1910, some five months after the Wright report
on 'the Evergla&es had been transmitted in oomplefed form for .

printing, Elliott was informed by the director of the Divi-

'sion of FPublications that "The Sesretary had decided not to

59
publish It/ .n

58 1912 Evergla&es Hearings, Number 13, 627. Wilson .
was referr e erences of opinion in the Florida
congressional delegation, and especially between Senator
Fletcher and Representative Clark. When J. 0, Wright resign-

-6d from the department on February 15, 1910, he called on

Secretary ¥ilson before leaving end asked u the report he -
had written would be published. W¥Wright said, two years
later, that Wilson had told him: "There is a difference of .

upinlon over on the hill about the propriety of publishing

this report, and I have ordered it held up. . . « There are
things in there the department should not stand for," Ibid,,
Humber 6, 236, Will oclaimed Clark had oriticigzed the Ever-
8lades at the door of the House of Representatives in front
of a orowd on February 7, 1910, and had promised to bring
the matter up on the ﬂoor of the House in a speeoh. Ibid.,
Number 16, 748-749.

59 1bid., Fumber 21, 104l. In his statement to the
investigating committee on April 3, 1912, Secretary Wilson
said the Wright Report had not been published because "We
had not done enough; we had not done what the people of
Florida had a right to expect, and that, taken with other
surroundings, prevailed upon me to stop the work. It was -
not what it should have been." Ibid., Number 26, 1311,
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Judson C, Welliver, on October 8, 1911, published an
article in the Washinzton Times in which he asked who had

suppressed the report on land drainage in Florida.
For more than a year the dooument has been in

type at the Government Printing Office, ZEngineer-

ing authorities say that if it had been published

it might have saved thousands of innocent investors

from sinking their money in Florida development and

drainage propositions.

Millions upon millions of dollars would have

been saved, 1t is declared, if the offieial doocu-

ment could have been given publiecity., 60
welliver went on to answer his own original question, at
least in part, by citing Senator Smoot's rasqluxionlofWAusnst
7, 1911, ordering the printing of a compilation of assorted
papers on the Everglades, Welliver's second article, which
appeared in the szme paper on Octeber 15, went much further
into deteil; it was guite evident that the writer had been
on the.receiiing end of somebody's grapevine intelligence
system, "

Welliver found that a feud had existed in the Department
of Agrieulture over the J. O, Wright report. fThe Florida \
East Coast Reilway was accused by the pro-drainage forces of
meking its presence felt because of the ecmpetition of state |
iands with those of the carrier, and had exerted pressure to
heve the report suppressed as one means of knocking the Ever-

. glades., Welliver brought in the ill-fated course of the

60 Judson C. Welliver article from Washington Times,
Ootober 8, 1911, quoted in full in 1912 sverglades Hearings,
Number 18, 879-880.
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Florida East Coast Sugar and Drainasge Company and laid its
failure to the anti-railroad machirations of Jennings and
Broward., Attaching Congressman Frank Clark to ibé Florida °
East Coast alignment, Welliver declared that he too had

61
sought the suppression of the Wright report,

The article brought out the efforts of Senator Fletcher -

to get the report published and of this difficulty which he
finally solved in the August resolution, Welliver then
traced the story of the Elljott-Wright feud, itaking Elliott's
gide to the extent of declaring that Wright had 1aid down on
the job and was practically dismissed when all responsible
work was taken away from him. The Times story closed with a
resume of Fletoher's attitude and attempts to bring out the
long awaited Wright production. | |

It is expected the long suppressed docnﬁent
will firally appear about the time Congress

meets. That it will stir up a new manifestation —

of trouble between the political and business
factions of Florida is eonridently expected. 62

Within s few days arter the appearance of the Qctober 15
article, Clark wrote to Sesretary Wilson asking for a full
explanation of Welliver s accusation that he had aided 1n the
suppression of the engineering report. Clark reminded Wilson
of his visit to the secretary's office in February, 1910, and

61 Judson C. ¥elliver article in Washington Times,

Oetober 15, 1912, quoted in £ull in 19 Bverglades Hearings,

Number 18, 880—883. ,
62 1 912 Everglades Hearings, Number 18, 883.

i
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the exhortation the Florida legislator had made to get more
facts published about the Evergla.ﬁ.e.63 Wilson answered
Clark on October 24 and agreed with the latter that Clark
had never sought to suppress any of the various reports or
letters; he added that since the Wright report would soon
appear in a senate document the public would be 1.1:&:21:0::‘1:19:1.64
Clark again wrote Wilson on Qotober 26 and eited the fact
that Jennings, Fletcher, and Wright had corrected and revis-
ed the proofs of the forthooming document, and urged Wilson
to keep a copy o§5the original Wright report for comparison

end publioation, The Clark-Wilson correspondence continued

63 1912 Everflades Hearings, Number 18, 840-841,
64 . V "

’ [ ]

65 Ibid., 842, Clark wrote: "The land sharks who insis-
ted on the suppression of this report and the circular letter
are now claiming in the public press that they have always
urged the publication of these documents, because the said
documents were very favorable to the drainage of the Ever-
glades, but that you suppressed them at the instance of myself
and others because a certain railroad company would be finan-
oially injured by the consumation of the drainage scheme.

"] am giving you the real facts, Mr. Secretary, so that
you may know the real situation., I have never seen the report,
but the oircular letter, while admitting that the lands could
be drained, made the very positive statement that it would
cost millions of dollars and require many years, and that after
accomplishment the lands would be of doubtful value, This d4id
not suit the big land companies, because if it was going to
take years of time, millions of money, and then the lands would
be of uncertain value, they c¢ould not unload their holdings in .
small tracts to the American citizen. This was the motive
prompting them in appealing to you, and after you suppressed
the report and the e¢ircular letter they str taway took from
the report the favorable clauses and scattered them in their
literature broadcast over the 1and, thus proeclaiming to the
world that your dspartment endorsed their scheme in toto and
coined millions of money.™ Ibid., 842, o
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into January, 1912, when the Florida representative urged

B

the seoretary to publish the "real Wright Report" as against -
66

the doctored edition in the senate document,

—

Another party whose toe was stepped on in the Welliver
articles was J. O, Wright, The Florida dralnasge engineer
wrote A. C, True, Director of the Office of Experiment Sta-
tions and Elliott's immediate superior, on October 27, 1911,

‘in regard to the "scurrilous attack.” Wright stated that he
haﬁ resigned to take charge of the Florida project at a

" better salary than the bureaun chiefs of the asgriculture
department received, and asked True to see if Elliott would
not set the record straight. "I shall surely not rush into
print with a denial, . « « I have other means at my dis-

. : 67 L
posal, whiech I think will be much more effective,

The Wrigﬁt report on the Everglades lay dormant 1n‘the }[
files of the department of agriculture for & full year be- -
fore Senator Fletoher made a determined effort which result- v
ed in the publication of the muoh sought after aoconﬁt.
Broward, Gilohrist, and a veritable host of others had
é;: attempted to sescure eopies of the government engineors" |
& recommendations without sucoess.ee' In June of 1911, Senator r

66 1912 Everg;ades Hearggge, Humber 18, 845, 846, 861.
863-865.

67 Wright to A. C. True, Ootober 27, 1911, ibid., Kum-
ber 7, 270-271.

68 Senste Documents, Number.89, 62 Congress, 1 Session,
7-18. —
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Fletcher heard the report had been killed, the plates
melted up, and the number the paper was to have borne given
to another document,

Senator Fletecher, who represented the progressive
element that wanted to carry out the drainage pro-
Ject, figured out a plan to force its publication
whether the department liked it or not. So he intro-
duced a Senate resolution to have the whole thing
published as a Senate document, along with much other
matter bearing on the drainage enterprise-~the
Buckingham Smith report, the Jefferson Davis repcrt,
the legislative reports, governors' messages, and
the like, 69 |
On August 7, 1911, Chairman Reed Smoot of the Senate

Committee on Printing submitied Senate Eesoiution 130 tb the
Senate, which was oonsidered and by unanimous eonseniwééreed
to, authorizing the printiﬁg.as a public doeument é eomjlla—
tion of acts, reports, and other papers relating to the

70

reolamation of the Everglades, This eollsction of assorted

69 Judson C. Welliver article in the Washington Times,
October 15, 1911, guoted in full in 1912 Ever; 8 Hearings,
Number 18, 882, In a statement before e oongressio

investigation committee, Senator Fletcher said: "The document
wag prepared at my instanece; and under my dirggi_:_i_gg purely
as 8 pnblio matter, in the effort and the endeavor %o &live
purely /sic/ record, and to state only the absolute truth in
connection with that great enterprise.” Ibid., Fumber 7, 282,
See also Senator Fletcher's defense of Semate Document 89 on
the floor of the upper house, Congressional Record, XLVIII

(February 15, 1912), 2084-2086,

70 Congressional Record, XLVII (August 7, 1911), 3669.
R. E. Rose wrote that "ihe Everglad;%?gggterprise became
the subject of national sgitation, and was denounced in the

Halls of Congress, resulting in the investigation by the
U. S, Senate and the publication of Senate Document No,
89. « + «" R, .E, Rose, "The Swamp and Overflowed Lands of
Florida," loc., cit., 130,

+
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manuseripts pertaining to the south Florida wet lands beocame
the ocelebrated Senate Document Number 89 abouthwhich the
gathering storm broke in the fall of 1911 when it appeared
in print and played a major part in the congressional hear-
ings of February and Marech, 1912,

Senator Fletcher began assembling the materials forAthe
208 page volume in the early summer of 1911. George H,
Carter, clerk of the Joint Committee of Congress on Printing,

asserted that the material was prepared and arranged by T. E, =~

#ill, The former edusetor and editor managed to securs,
without the Department of Agriculture's authorization, a copy
of the notorious Wright Report for tpe printing committee.71
The document did not, however, eontain a copy of the contro--
versial Elliott eircular of January, 1910,

At the hearings in Washington in the late winter of 1912

71 1912 Evez'-?a&es Hear%gss, Fumber 19, 943-956, 958,
964~-965, Number . en Will was on the stand in

4
March, 1912, before the House Committee investigating the
Everglades he was asked 1f he had had any connection with
Senate Document 89. He asked Chairman Ralph W. Moss if the
chair desired him to answer the guestion. William E. Ellis,
representing the Florida Internal Improvement Fund Trustees .
at the hearings, objected to the question and the objection
was sustained by loss, Ibid., Fumber 16, 760. In .an article
published by Will in the FE. Lauderdale (Florida) €all on
June 12, 1926, Will wrote that he had conceived and eompiled
Senate Document 89 in 1911, The X¥oss Committee 414 not press
Will to ascertain where he procured the page proof of the
Suppressed Wright Report and Will's memory failed him as to
the name of the man in the government printing office who
gupplied the material, 1912 Everglades Hearinzs, Humber 13,
54~636. . _
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this document continued to bob up on the gquestioning of the
various witnesses. Testimony brought out the facts that the
proofs were read and corrected in the late summer of 1911 in
Jacksonville, Florida, by Senator Fletcher, -ex-Governor N ,,
Jennings, and chief engineer James 0. Wright of the Florida /

e
drainage commissioners., Congressman Frank Clark wrote in

Cotober that Jennings and others "who are largely interested
in the Everglades land companies have largely gone over these
proofs, presumably to sece that they are all right before they

73
are finally published.”

On Fehruary 20, 1912 during one of the hearings before
the Moss Committee, Eenry E. Davis, attorney for the investi-
gators, was asked by William H. Ellis, attorney for the .
Florida Trustees, if the former intended to attack Senate
Document 89, Davis replied that it was his purpose %o point
out the interests which its preparation serveé..?4 At the
sane hearing Chairman Hoss read a large dLSplay Irom an Ever-
| glades Land Seles Company into the record. It reads a8 ’

i : ' 72 1912 Everglades Hearings, Number 1, 10, Number 5,
: 221, Humber 18, B84l.

7% Clark to Secretary Wilson, October 20, 1911 1912

Everglades Hearings, Number 18, 841. Jennings was infer-
ested in more then a political manner with the Everglades
project, He had received 27,000 scres as a gift from.
Richard J. Bolles, Ibld,, Number 7, 261, Jennings was
closely associated with Bolles in the Everglades Reclaimed
Land Company and associated firms, Ibid., Number 26, 1326,

74 Ibid., Number 7, 261. .
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follows:

United States Senate Document No. 89, regarding ‘
Everglades, now ready. Every person interested in .
the glades should send for this publication, com~
piled at the request of the Miaml Board of Trade, L_
submitted by Floride's distinguished Serator,
Duncan U. Fletcher. 75

Moss questioned J. O. Wright as to the reputation of the

iR Ao silhe i e s R

document in Florida as an indorsement of the Zverglades pro-

ject, Wright answered, "Yes, I think I could say it is an
indorsement of the pro;ect."76 WWhen Representative E. R.
Bathrick asked %Will if the &verglades Land Sales Company had
used the document as a means of selling lagg, the latter

replied, "I think so, They have used 1t."

N U ST PR
b A N A RGO

Senate Document Number 89 was a very'pOPular collection,

The first edition, appearing in the fsll of 1911, was soon
exhausted for on February 1, 1912, Senator Nathan P. Bryan, .
the junior senator from Florida introdusced a resolution pro- {:

viding for the printing of 4,800 additional copies of the 1

2 document, 2,000 for the senate and 2,800 for tgg superin-
%? tendent of documents to be sold to the puablie. Smoot,

4
.
3
a
.
%
e

75 1912 Evegﬁlades Hearings, Number 7, 300, Fleteher 5
attempte rebu e evidence read by Moss by stating that ,
the document was not prepared "at the instance of any one .

board of trade or individual. . . . I thought the publiec
interest would be subserved by a eollection, compilation
and publication of public records. » . » I Sought to Qo this
== for the publie good and in the public interest. . . " Ibid.,
= " Humber 8, 334-~335. . , . T
' 76 Ibid., Humber 7, 299,
77 TD—H.', Fumber 15, 766,

- 78 Tonzressional Record, XLVIII (February 1, 1912),
1615, "The promoters and the boomers have thus been furnished

L
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? of the printing committee, reported the resolutionifévofably

= and after consideration it was adopted by unanimous consent
= ‘ 79

on February 15, 1912.

D The Battle Lines Are Drawn:

s Investigation

3 + « o I now proclaim that it will develop as

S a matter of fact that the Department of Agricul-

= ture itself, through its offieials, in the latter

5 part of the year 1911, gathered itself together

T and girded up its loins to meet this inguiry. 80
,;§ This statement made by Henry E. Davis, counsel for the koss
. Committee, was borne cut in the Clark-%ilson correspondence
E o 7

Ed and also in the Welliver newspaper articles discussed above.
% The devious trails of the Eright Report, Elliott oircular

3 letter, and Clark correspondence from 1909 through 1911 had

i

Seoretary James Wilson in such a dizzy whirl that in Novem-
ber, 1911, he summoned Charles G. Elliott to his office and /
told him to prepare a full account of the events covered in

the Everglades experiences of the United States ﬁepartment
81 ' ' ‘

i
3.

of isgriculture. Elliott's statemant‘tas prepared and

with a fresh supply of emmunition, which they can use at
will for the purpose of misleading investors.® H. P, Willis,
"Seeretary ¥ilson's Record," loe. cit., 16, S

79 Congressional Record, XLVILI (February 15, 1912),
2084, 1IT was after the adoption of this resolution that
Senator Fleicher made his defense of the document. -Ibid.,
2084-~2086, S

80 1912 Everglades Hearings, Humber 7, 276, .
81 Ibid., Number 21, 1535.; "¢ « « I want you to pre-
Pare me a complete statement, giving me all the ins and

outs, I don't want you to keep back anything,” Wilson to0ld
Elliott. Ibid. ‘ ' '
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pessed to the secretary on November 21, 1911l. 1In his resume
Elliott did not pull eny punches but let the blows fall where
they might with especial emphasis on the pert played by the
land agente in the suppression of the circular letter and the
inaccuracies of the Wright report.ez

On Hovember 29, 1911, Rerresentative Clark called Secre-
tary Wilson and reguested a.camplete history of the depart-
meﬁt's sctivities in the Everglades. Wilson sent a eopy of
Elliott's long statement to Clark, who apparently released
the letter to the press, for it appeared verbatim in the

83
Jacksonville (Florida) Metropolis on December 15, 1911,

The cardid statements made by Elliott in regard to James 0.
#¥right remained intact throughout and came to the atiention
of the ohief engineer of the Everglades operations soon after
the Floridas paper published the letter. James 0. Wright
later declared:

Yy friends in Tallshassee, and the trusiees
of the internal improvement fund of the State of
Florida, by whom I am employed came to me and .
said, "Mr. Wright, you ean't ignore this any 1ong-
er, 1% is up to you to make an explanation of
this matter. It is injuring your work and it is

injuring the State." 84
.In an attempt 1o defend himself from what he felt was

© B2 1912 Everglades Hearin : Kumber 18, 857-860 Bnmber
21, 1039=104Z2,

83 wilson to Clark, letter of Hovember 89 1911, 1912
Everglades Hearings, Humber 18, 846; J. O, w:ight EEI
Erzggs;s gegogi on the Everglades Suppressed?, l.

everglades Hearings, Humber 7, 272,

1.:
1
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the "abuse" of Elliott, Aright wrote and published an eignt
page account of why his report had never been revealed.
"right laid the full responsibility for the non-appearance of
his menuseript at Elllott's feet, stating that Elliott had
deolined the original Jjob of the Everglades surveys in July,
1906, and had been hostile to the projeot ever since that

It will be recalled that Wright had written the director
of the office of experiment stations of the agriculture de-
pariment, shortly afifer the publication of the Welliver
artieles, in October, 1511, asking that offieial to request
Elliott to deny the statements about Wright's incompetency
and separation from government service.86 On January '20,
1912, while attending to private business in Washington,
Wright called on the ehief of the division o‘f aoéonnté and
disbursements in the department of agriculture and revealed
several finencial irregularities which had oceurred in makiné"

up a deficit in the division of irrigation and drainage in

" 85 J. 0. Wright, 'ﬂgg Was Wr%ght's Re%rt s“fl resséd‘i 1-
8+ This statement was pu n the Jacksonv da)

Hetropolis on December 15, 1911, and also reproiueed. in the
%21% %er%ades Hearings, Number 5, 186-192. Wright stated
hat he had never been subject to any outside influences dur-
ing his Florida surveys for the agriculture department or
while he was composing the report. YI have no land in Flerida
and have not amr interest in any land compa.ny doing business
in the State." Ibid., Number 5, 191, .

86 1912 bvergliades Hea.rings, Number 7, 273.-




t
P

L

306
1909.87 The irregularities involved illegal shifting of |
funds within the dlvision under Elliott's supervision anmd =
illegal borrowing to cover certain deficits., As a result |
Elliott was dismissed from the department and ¥Wright had

used the means which he felt "to be more effective than a |

88
printed denial,™ even though he had made a public defense,

Throughout the fall of 1911 and early winter of 1912
references were made to the probability that the Honse of

< Representatives' Committee Investigating Expenditures in the
Department of Agriculture, under the Chairmanship of Repre-

A
g

sentative Ralph W, Eoss of Indiana, would look into the Ever~:

Beibit

glades project. Interest in Washington centered on the B

ol

stories behind the suppression of the Wright engineering
report, the Elliott circular letter, and the appearance of

Szt A0

the so~called WrightaElliottgreport in Senate Document Hum-
8
ber 89 on December 1, 1911,

Pt bos L

87 House of Representatives Documents, Report Eumber
1207, 62 Congress, g Session, 9-11; 1912 Everglades Hearings,
Kumber 7, 273. "Mr. Davis. You diseovered the ege
irregularities about these matters in the summer of 1909, and

you remained in the service of the Government six months there-
atter?

i o ’i‘right. Yes,
¢ WUMr, Davis. And during that time, although an official of
the Government having cognizance of the alleged irregularities,
you 41d not attempt to tell about it or deem it your duty ss an
official to impart that knowledge to anybody? B
"Mr., Wright., No, sir. I wasn't reporting a superior -
-officer.” Ibid., Number 7, 273. - ‘ -
' 88 1912 Everglades Eearé%s, Number 1, 11, Number 31, 1453,
5 89 Welliver article ington Times, October 8, 1911,
& 3ggted in 1912 Everglades Hearings, er 18, 880, Number 18, -
[ ]
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Charges that the State 0f Florida loaned its
name and oredit to ons of the biggest land swindles
in history; that the Department of Agrioulture has,
.by suppression of information sbout the Everglades,
alded and abetted, and that 500,000 persons in all
parts of the country have been victims--these and
other exceedingly regrettable allegations are to be
looked into Just as soon as possible by the House
Committee on Expenditures in the Department of
Agriculture, 90

A meeting of the House Committee on Expenditﬁres in the
g+ Department of Agriculture was ealled on February 3, 1912, to
give Congressmen Frank Clark of Florida and E. R, Bathrick
of Ohio an opportunity to appear before the group and make
such statements as they desired regarding the mverglades of
Flor.to.a and such requests as they cared "To present to this
committee in regard to any action whioch this committee
might take in refergnce thereto."gl

Representative Bathrick declared that the purpose of
the proposed investigation was "not fo learn all about
Florida® but to learn why information secured by the Depart-
nient oI‘Agriculture on the assumption of purveying facts to
answer inguiries was withheld, "or whether it was really

92 o 5
suppressed.® Tracing the general outline of the _reasons

90 Washington Times, December 8, 1911, qnoted 1n 1912
Everglades Beari Eﬁber 19, 9563.
%I %%%% EE %a&es Eear_i_g_gs ‘Humber 1, 3.
92 ck's presnmption that the purpose of the
investigation was not to learn all about Florida was putiing .
the oase somewhat mildly as the committee met in 43 hearings
from February 3 to August 9, 1912, and collected 1759 pages

of testimony and exhibits on the Everglades, Thers was

hardly a subject about the peninsular state that was not
mentioned.
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for the origin of the federal surveys and tneir eansulng pro-

gress, Bathrick sought to encourage the committee to inguire

d into the complaint of whether the eircular letters and
i abstracts issued by the agricultural depariment were unfalr

Wk v ny

to those buying or selling Everglades lands, and the reasons

,' why the full report had been held back,

On Fébruary 6, 1912, Representative Frank Clark appear- _

1? ed befors the Moss Committee and gave his reasons for seek-

. ing an investigg.gion of federal pertieipation in the Lver- |
= glades project, Clark traced the detailed events of the 1
»;:i federé.l engineers! examinations, the ‘firight excerpt, the

Elliott circular, and spesulative tendencles of the ocontem-

porary boom in Seuth Florida. He reguested the koss com-

R s g, (0518
R S
i

mittee to proceed with an investisation of the Everglades to

£ind out why the Elliott ciroular letter was suppressed, at Jl

whose instance the suppression took‘pla.ce, and why the

¥right Report had been delayed for three years. ; .
Eow, I do not hesitate to say, gentlemen, that a l

number of syndicates have gotten inte this Ever- L/'
glades proposition for the sole purpose of exploiting

- 9% 1912 Everzlsdes Hearingss, Number 1, 8-9, Herman B.
Welker, & purohaser of an E‘ver&ades tract from the ocompany J
represented by T. E. ¥ill, wrote to Will from his farm near -
Ft. Landerdale that Clark and Bathrick were "erazy in their
stand" on the Everglades being worthless, but that the two o
ocongressmen might well be correct on the political and 7]
speculative issues involved. Welker fo Will, January 18,

1912, Will Collectione. :

J
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it, injuring the falr name of the State of Florids,
and swindling innumerable people all over this
country. « . « If The Tepartment of igriculture
has mede itself subservient to the will of a few
land sharks who have been exploiting that property
to theilr own benefit and to the detriment of those
people and to the great injury of the State of
Florida, I think the country ought to know about it.
I am not opposed--I do not want to be understood
es opposing the drainage of the Everglades of Florida
as & projeot of internal improvement. The engineers
gsay it is feasible; that it can be done. They say
that land is of very vast value. OFf those things I
know absolutely nothing, but I do objeect most seri-
ously to a few land sharks getting large holdings
in that property and msking representations to the
people of the United States and to foreign lands
that are absolutely unirue, statements that I know
are false, and I do object to a great department of
this Government being put in the attitude of, if
not yartgzipating, at least acquiesecing in that
fraud. '

Clark added that if the United States Department of Agri-
culture had not acquiesced in the statements of the land pro-
moters then the department should have an opportunity to
defend itself agains{ such charges. It could be established,
however, that the department had given an excerpt of the
Wright Report to & representative of a land concern in Colo-
rado and to representatives of the State of Florida.

These land companies took that excerpt and they N
culled from it those things they thought might

militate againast their schemes. The favorable

ones, disconnected from the others ard unexplained

and which put it in an altogether different light,

they spread broadcast over the country in these

lurid advertisements in the Sunday pepers and the

megazines, KNow, I contend that the department
right then should have eome to the front and said,

94 1912 Everglades Hearings, Fumber 1, 8-9,
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"Here is this whole report; we want the public to
see all of it, and not these disconnected and dis- _
jointed extracts which these people are using for ‘
their own purposes.” 95
Clark's statement before the koss Committee drew the

fire of the agricultural department; its press release declar-

edi the Floridian's testimony was "prejudieed, one sided and
96 ' :
untrue,"” On February 8, Clark replied to the attack, saying

that he knew, when he went before the ioss Committee, the
assault upon him would be sharpe.

I have no interest in any land company in the
State of Florida or anywhere else, I have not a
foot of Florida land for sale in any part of the
States, The only interest that I have is in pro-
tecting the people of this country from being
ensnared by the lurid, truthless, false state-
ments of these land sharks. « « o - ' '

These men have brought déiseredit upon our
State, X¥illions of dollars have gone into their =
coffers for land 8, 10, and 12 feet under water,
lands that ought to have been sold by the quart
instead of by the sore; and I wanted to know what
connection the Department of Agrioculiture has with
these land boomers and land sharks, 87

95 1912 Everglades Hearings, Humber 1, 12, = -
96 on Her , february 8, 1912, guoted in speech )
by Frank %l%, Conzressional Reoord, XLVIII (February 8, 1912), .
1840, One eomenfa%or wrote Clark had shattered 40,000 dreams )

of paradise on the installment plan when he made it "plain to

40,000 people that all their savings had been thrown away."

.

ggorge T+ 0dell, "Paradise on the Installment Plan,” loc. cit., |

97 Gongressional Record, XLVIII (February 8, 1912), 1840- -

1847, A'IE‘zﬁlough Tlark claimed he was not connected with or —J

interested in any land company he admitted under gquestioning -
before the Hoss Committee that he had sought to obtaln broker-

age fees for selling lands along the St, Johns River in Florida
after he had sponsored and secured passage of a federal =




=
Lo

311
George P. MoCabe, Solicitor of the Departmentuor Agricul-
ture and its representative throughout the Everglades Hearings,
followed Clark as & witness before the committee, McCabe pre-

sented a statement showing the work and attitude of that

_]j agency toward the South Florida project.ge He sald c.‘x.ark had
“ been afforded every opportunity to see every paper, letter,

[: or report in the files of the department, and that Seeretary
F ¥ilson had offered personally to conduot him through sn inves-

tigation within the agency, but that Clark had failed to visit
Wilson. The solicitor then proceeded to outline the entire

b history of the relations between his department and the State

% of Florida on the'Everglades project from the correspondsnce
E initiated in 1904, by Charles G. Elliott, and closed by Sec-

retary Wilson in 1910 with the Qdeeision not to print the
o9
Wright Report,

The ¥oss Committee summoned a large number of witnesses
to its hearings to determine if

' « v e p\ibl.tc funds had bee‘n expended in the
examination and survey of the Everglades and -

appropriation in & Eiver and Harbors Act to improve the chan-
nel and conseguent drsinage of adjecent lands of that water-
way. For example, Clark had written V. W. Helm of the
Everglades Land Sales Company, one of the major companies he
attacked in his speeches and testimony, relative to a 32,000
acre tract near Osceola, Floridas, 1918 Everglades Hearings,
Eumber 18, 877, 883-884, ‘
: 38 1912 Everglades Hearings, Kumber 1, 14-46,
9 I‘ETI""I%.. 16, |

————
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o
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/T£] certain reports prepared by the engineers

es a result of this expenditure of public funds

had been refused publication; or, having been

published, their circulation had been suppressed. 100

It will be recelled that Wright had been employed as
chief drainage engineer by the Board of Commissioners of the
Everglades Drainage Dis?rict in February, 1910, presumably
on the basis of the plan set forth in the excerpt of his
Report sent to the Florida Trustees in 1909. Wright became
the first witness to testiiy
a good defense of his Report.

In rebutting Wright's testimony the agricultural
department was fortunate in presenting Arthur E. Morgan, a
special drainage engineer of the experiment stations,
Xorgen pointed out in no uncertain terms that Wright had
been completely incorrect in the important factors of esti-"

mating rainfall, run-off, and evaporation; that he had

100 House of Representatives Documents, Report HNumber
1207, 62 Tongress, 2 Session, 1. T"ihe admission before
%Z comnittee by the department that certain appoiniments
he Drainage Division had been irregularly made and that
certain moneys had been unlawfully disbursed seemed 1o war-
rant an exhaustive inquiry into the organization, metheds,
and operation of this division of the Office of Experiment
Stations. Charges that certain employees of the Department
ef Agriculture became, or sought to become, financially
interested in drainasge schemes whiech were under examinetion
by the Division of Drainage elso came to the notioce of your
Gommittee. Accordingly, witnesses were examined under oath,
and this testimony has been printed for the information ot
‘the House,® Ibid. ; ‘
101 1912 Everglades Hearinzs, Numbers 3-8, 14, 32,
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minimized the necessity of cross canals, laterals, and farm
ditches; that he had planned to use the same system for
drainage and irrigation, though relying on gravity for water
flow; that he had made absurdly low estimates of costs of -
excavation of rock and 80il; and finslly that the oanals
planned by Wright would carry only fifty-five per cent of
the amount elaime&.lgz

Horgan stated that he had suggested to Elliott, when the
Wright Repert was being revised in the department, that it
might be desirable not to publish any report at sll with

102 1912 Everg%ades Heariggs, Number 9, 338-391, 10,
410-418, ’ » Morgan believed that "the Florida Ever-
glades are possible of reclametion through a slow development
of a system of agriculture adapted to that country.” Ibiad.,
Humber 9, 391. Drainage and irrigation, Morgan testified in
1912, if ever worked out, would be accomplished by "supply- o
ing water by pumping or perhaps using the same pumps for
drainage at some times and for irrigation at other times, in
addition to the ditohes.™ Ibid., Number 9, 376. Horgan
told the committee an adequate engineering plan would cost -
$100,000 and take several years to work out, and that recla-
mation of the Everglades in fen sere trasts would cost $15
to §30 an acre, Ibid.; Number 9, 347, 365, He pointed out
the hyaointh nuisance in the oansls and oited experiences in
Loulsiana where continual masintenanse of the canals was
nedessary due to thelr very low gradient., Ibid., Humber 9,
867, wright's Report was suppressed, Morgan stated, be- — —
sause of its inaccuracies. Ibid., Number 9, 391. The pro- -
blem of subsidence and shrinkage had been evaded, Morgan I
felt, for similar lands in Minnesota had shrunk from six i
inches to four feet a year. "As a matter of history, the
drainage works in the fens of England and Holland have had L
to be in many oases reconstructed, with the ditehes all -~
deepened and the entire work readjusted to make up for this
matter of shrinkage in turf soils." Ibid., Number 9, 375,
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such meager datae.

He replied that the difficulty about that -
was the excerpts had all been made public and
were being used in the advertising literature
of the land companies, and under those conditions
it was the duty of this office to present the
data they had, with the proper safeguards, so =
that it eould not be used improperly. 103 1
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Other witnesses.uho testified before the committee in-
eluded C. G, Elliott, Secretary Wilscn, Senator Fletecher,

W, Gilehrist made the trip to Washington end ®"lost no time in
making known his desire o be heard by the committee . . « in
the matter of the charges made against the proposition to

104

reclaim the Everglades of his State,™ Giloehrist, in an
interview, ﬁade it known that he was at & loss to understand
er ascount for the attaocks made upon the E\rerglad.eé by Repre-
sentative Clark, since, from what he had been t0ld, Clark had
never even seen the area. The Florida governor assoclated :

Clark's name with that of Henry ¥, Flagler, and renewed the

103 1912 Everglades Haeari , Eumber 9, 365 "¢ ¢« o &
report which had Deen made Dy %ﬁe department away baek in -
1891 on the results of some sugar experiments sarried on in
Florida . . . had been and was being used to adveriise Glads
lands by these sommerclal companies despite the protests of :
the department officers who had been responsible for that .
report in 1891.7 MoCabe statement, ibld., Number 1, 28. b
Morgan wrote o Seoretary Wilson on January 29, 1912, "I
am well aware of the strong influence that has been brought
to bear against ¥r. Elliott by Florida real-estate promoters
- to prevent him from making public the fasts of the situation.”
Ibid., Number 10, 410. -

]

n

104 washington Post, March 5, 1912, as quoted in Con-
gressional Reoord, XLVILII (March 5, 1912), 2834,
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105
allegation of a political affinity between the two men,

The newspaper account of Gilechrist's interview led Clark
to answer the governor in the House. Clark repeated the
ocharges he ‘ha& made several times previously in regard to the

exploitation of the peninsular state by land sharks. Refer-
ring %o the association of his name with Flagler's, Clark
- denied that the former Standard 0il Company executive exerted

Not that I disclaim association and asquaint-

ance with ¥r, Flagler, I am not a groundling. « . .

But this 1little pin-headed governor /laughter
= thought it would hurt me politically in ny 8-
triet to associate me with Mr. Flagler, 106

Governor Gilechrist sent Wi;liam H. Ellis, counsel for
thé Trustees of the Internal Improvement Fund, to the Uoss
Committee hearings after the third session, E11lis was %o
check on the adverse oritiecisms with which newspapers were

Said to lead the public to believe emanated from the various
| , 107
. " witnesses,

105 Washiungton Post, March 5§, 1912, as quoted in Con-
gressional Record, XLViLI (March 5, 1912), 2834, :

. s 2835, Gilohrist had asked T. E. Will to
prove that Clark was opposed to Everglades drainage specifi-
cally, as "It is vital to this proposition to show the true
animas of Clark." 1912 Everglades Hearings, Number 16, 749.
Later in the same hearing waI was asked -f? it were no% true
that vegetables froze in the truck gardens at Ft. Lauderdale
in February, 1912, Gilchrist objected and said: "If this .
attaocking of the Everglades system down there has anything
to do with the §$11,000 spent by this Agricultural Department s
, I would like the committee to tell me "™ Ibid., Number 16, 767 «
- 107 Ibvid., Number 4, 129, On March 13, 1912, & member
of the Xoss Committee drew the statement from Fllis that he
was counsel for R. J. Bolles in several cases them pending
in Uissouri, and that "when Hr, R. J. Bolles offered me some
0f his business, legal business, I was then the retained

4 4
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§! ‘ The majority report of the Committee on Expenditures
= L
=l in the Department of Agriculture on the Florida Everglades i
%z Drainage Project found that "
f; The vacillating course of the department in its o
fé treatment of this important project was, in the
A opinion of your Committee, in part due to a differ-
¥ ence of opinion among Members of Congress and the :]
] State authorities of Florida; irreconcilable differ-
¢ ences in the opinions and conclusions among the "
engineers in the Pivision of Drainage was another :
‘eontributing cause, The evidence before your “
committee warrants the conclusion that the entire
treatment of the project was most unfortunate and n
subjeoted the Department of Agriculture to mush v
suspicion and eriticism, 108
-
The conclusions reached by the koss Committee were N

phrased in gentler terms than those found in a magazine
article on Secretary of Agriculture James Wilson's record in

the Everglades case. The anthor of the article, after oon-
sidering the facta, declded that Wilson had transmitted to

the Florida Board of Drainage Commissioners

e o« « 8n incomplete, partial and hasty report by

an engineer who was considered incompetent by his ,
superiors, and whose investigations had been "
carried on in close communication with the local
politiocians who were furthering the work of the

C_}C_J 3 3

2

counsel of the trustees of the internal fund of the State of
Florida, Before I accepted that employment I had a confer-
ence with the trustees of the internal improvement fund of
the State of Florida-end asked if they saw any reason why I
should not represent him, They said, 'Why none in the world;?
and it was with their full knowledge and consent that I took
gégoemploymant accepted his legal work." Ibid., Humber 20,

108 House of Representatives Documsnts. Report Number
1207, 62 Congress, 2 §ession, B

4 [L-3
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land interects., He allowed this incomplete docu-
ment to be published in & form which weas immediate-
ly used by promoting interests to further their
schemes, .Although he was soon informed by more
competent men that the document was unreliable and
misleading, he issued no retraction, but pPermitted

% to continue in circulation. When a statement
calling attention to the discouraging fsatures of
the Everglades speculation was prepared in the
department, Seeretary wWilson ordered it suppressed,
He then discharged as scapegoats, on a techniocal
charge, subordinates who had been under attack by
the land boomers because of their unawillingness to
Join in the exploitation of the public, 109

109 B, Parker Willis, "Secretary wilson's Record,n
Collier's XLIX (March 23, 1912), 16, Willis' inferences to
"glose communication” beitween the federal investigator and
local politicians was borne out in part by wright's testi-
mony of the personal meetings he had had with Broward in
Tallahassee and Fi, Lauderdale, 1912 Everg%ados Hearings,
Bumber 3, 74-75, 77. Broward had also nished Je Os
Wright and his wife a small cruiser witk a orew of two to
"inspect® the Florida east coast during a fortnight's exeur-
sion, Ibid., Rumber 3, 86-87, ' : '




